

Brigham Young University BYU ScholarsArchive

All Theses and Dissertations

2018-06-01

# Plane of Energy Nutrition on Blood Metabolites, Milk Production and Lamb Growth in Friesian Sheep

Rebekah Paige Jensen Brigham Young University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd Part of the <u>Plant Sciences Commons</u>

#### BYU ScholarsArchive Citation

Jensen, Rebekah Paige, "Plane of Energy Nutrition on Blood Metabolites, Milk Production and Lamb Growth in Friesian Sheep" (2018). *All Theses and Dissertations*. 6857. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/6857

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact scholarsarchive@byu.edu, ellen\_amatangelo@byu.edu.

Effects of Nutritional Modification in Pseudo and Ruminant Livestock

Rebekah Paige Jensen

A thesis submitted to the faculty of Brigham Young University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Todd F. Robinson, Chair Randy Larsen Thomas Smith

Department of Plant and Wildlife Sciences

Brigham Young University

Copyright © 2018 Rebekah Paige Jensen

All Rights Reserved

#### ABSTRACT

#### Effects of Nutritional Modification in Pseudo and Ruminant Livestock

Rebekah Paige Jensen Department of Plant and Wildlife Sciences, BYU Master of Science

Small ruminant species are utilized for their diverse products including meat, dairy products, and wool. Effective and humane management are essential to maintain high production rates and comfortable animals. To attain this objective, managers needs to have an extensive knowledge of husbandry techniques, understanding of physiological processes, and familiarity with nutritional requirements. We examined the effects of varying feed components on two different ruminal species. In Chapter 1, we conducted a study to evaluate the effects of a low metabolizable energy (LME) and high metabolizable energy (HME) diet on twenty-two Friesian/Lacuane cross ewes and lamb nutritional status. Effects on milk production during early lactation stages and the growth of the neonatal lambs were also investigated. We anticipate energy levels will have an effect on milk production and lamb growth. Our results indicate that ewes on the LME diet produced more milk with higher concentrations of fat though this group maintained lower body condition. We concluded that neither the HME nor the LME diet met the needs of the sheep due to the shift in nutrient partitioning towards milk production rather than allocating nutrients to maintaining both body condition and milk production. Limited energy requirements are further evidenced by the decline in back fat (BF) for both the HME and LME groups for the duration of the study. We determined the degradation parameters of grass hay supplemented with soybean meal (SBM) and the effects of SBM on compartment 1 (C1) ammonia and volatile fatty acid (VFA) concentrations in alpacas. Our findings show that the degradation rate was not different for dry matter (DM), but it was for crude protein (CP) (P<0.05). With this data it can be concluded that SBM can be a CP supplement when the diet is insufficient to improve microbial yield. It should be noted that care should be taken to avoid causing a protein-energy imbalance. The results of these two studies indicate shifts in nutrients availability and changes in feeding strategies can affect both the health of the animal and their subsequent offspring.

Keywords: Alpaca, Friesian sheep, in situ digestibility, soybean meal, VFA

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I must first thank my husband, Zachary, who never ceased to provide me with unwavering positivity and comfort. He told me that he never doubted that I could accomplish this goal and his constant source of love and patience got me through many tearful nights. Supportive is a huge understatement and I could not have done it without him. Thank you!

I would also like to express gratitude to my parents David and Heidi Smith. My father, David, told me the world was mine, I just had to go get it. His words of encouragement pushed me to obtain this higher degree. My mother, Heidi, is my personal cheerleader and her love and support got me through countless bouts of self-doubt, fatigue, and discouragement. I am forever grateful for her example of perseverance in the face of adversity.

Finally, I would like to thank my chair, Todd F. Robinson, for the endless hours he spent answering my questions, talking me through details, editing my drafts, and making sure I was learning as much as possible. Without his guidance, knowledge, and patience, I would not have been able to complete this degree.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE PAGE i
ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS iii
TABLE OF CONTENTSiv
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLESviii
CHAPTER 1 1
ABSTRACT1
INTRODUCTION
METHODS
Animals, location and experimental design 4
Sampling 6
Assays7
Statistical Analysis7
RESULTS
Ewes
Milk Data9
Lambs

DISCUSSION
Ewes
Milk14
MUN and Milk Protein
Lambs
Blood Metabolites
CONCLUSIONS
LITERATURE CITED
FIGURES
TABLES
CHAPTER 2
ABSTRACT
INTRODUCTION
METHODS
In Situ digestibility trial
Volatile Fatty Acid Trial
Statistical Analysis
RESULTS
DISCUSSION
CONCLUSIONS

LITERATURE CITED	
FIGURES	
TABLES	

## LIST OF FIGURES

## CHAPTER 1

Figure 1-1. Lamb weight changes from birth to six-weeks of age for artificially reared (AR), high energy (HME) and low energy (LME) lambs. Asterisk (\*) indicates difference (P<0.05) between HME group and the other two (LME and AR), while "abcdef" indicate differences (P<0.05; SEM 2.47) between weeks.

Figure 1-2. Effects of maternal energy intake (80% vs. 140%) on blood glucose concentrations of lambs naturally reared on dams (HME=140%; LME=80%) or artificially reared (AR) on goats milk. Week means with differing "abc" are different at P<0.05 (SEM 0.52). There are no treatment differences.

Figure 1-3	. Backfat 1	measurements of ewes fed at 80% (LME) or 140% (HME)	of NRC (2007)
energy req	uirement.	Treatment and week differences are significant at P<0.05	(SEM 0.22).

CHAPTER 2

Figure 2-1. Dry matter degradation pattern for grass hay (Panels A) and soybean meal (Panel B) and crude protein degradation for grass hay (Panel C) and soybean meal (Panel D).

# LIST OF TABLES

# CHAPTER 1

Table 1-1. Chemical composition of diet components expressed on a dry matter basis.
Table 1-2. Diet formulation of both the LME and HME group adjusted for two stages in life: gestation and lactation.
Table 1-3. Ewe weight, backfat and blood metabolites of dairy sheep fed at 80% or 140% of energy requirements for six weeks prior, at, and six weeks post parturition as well as level of significance for both the treatment, week, and the interaction of treatment and week.
Table 1-4. Milk yield and composition of dairy ewes fed at 80% and 140% of energy requirement for five weeks post parturition, including SEM count, significance of treatment, week, and the interaction of treatment and week.
Table 1-5. Weight and blood metabolite comparisons of pre- and post-parturition ewes fed 80 or 140% required energy intake including SEM count, significant of treatment, stage, and the interaction of treatment and stage.
Table 1-6. Effects of maternal energy intake (80% vs. 140%) on weight and blood metabolites of lambs naturally reared on dams or artificially reared (AR) on goats milk including SEM count, significance of treatment, week, and the interaction of treatment and week.

# CHAPTER 2

Table 2-1. Composition of feed for both grass and soybean meal (SBM). Components arepresented in percent per feed and supplemental feed is presented in grams included in SBM.
Table 2-2. Dry matter and crude protein degradation kinetics for grass hay and SBM displayed in percentage format and including SEM count.
Table 2-3. Dry matter intake, NH <sub>3</sub> -N, concentration and composition of volatile fatty acids in the C1 of alpacas fed grass hay and grass hay soybean meal (SBM).

#### CHAPTER 1

## Plane of Energy Nutrition on Blood Metabolites, Milk Production and Lamb Growth in Friesian Sheep

Rebekah Paige Jensen, Todd F. Robinson Department of Plant and Wildlife Sciences, Brigham Young University, Provo, UT

#### ABSTRACT

This study was conducted to evaluate the effects of a low metabolizable energy (LME) and high metabolizable energy (HME) diet on twenty-two Friesian/Lacuane cross ewe milk production and nutritional status of the ewes and their lambs. Ewes were housed in a common paddock with ad libitum water and were fed alfalfa hay at 3% of body weight (BW). On day 100 of gestation, ewes were divided into metabolizable energy (ME) groups and fed alfalfa hay and rolled corn that provided either 80% low metabolizable energy (LME) or 140% high metabolizable energy (HME) of recommended ME requirement based on published NRC (2007) values for 70 kg ewes carrying twins, nursing twins and producing 1.5 to 2.9 kg milk/day. The treatment period was from the last trimester of gestation (approximately six weeks) to six weeks after parturition. Lamb treatments included HME, LME and lambs artificially reared (AR) on goat's milk. Body weight and backfat (BF) were monitored and recorded weekly for each ewe while weekly lamb BW was obtained for the duration of the study. Blood samples were collected weekly from the ewes beginning at their third trimester and concluding six weeks post parturition. Lamb blood samples were also collected weekly for six weeks post birth. Blood metabolites including, glucose, plasma urea nitrogen (PUN), creatinine, total protein (TPP) and triglycerides were analyzed to assess the nutritional status of both ewes and lambs. In addition, weekly milk samples for each ewe were analyzed for butter fat, protein, lactose, milk urea nitrogen (MUN), somatic cell count (SCC), and solids-not-fat (SNF). Ewe body weight was

not effected by treatment. There were differences in BF with the HME group having more BF than the LME group. A weekly effect was noted for ewe blood components glucose, PUN, and TPP. Milk fat percentage, daily fat produced, and lactose were affected by energy treatments. The LME group displayed both higher BF percentages and daily fat in milk while the HME group had higher concentrations of milk protein and lactose percentages. Lamb weight showed weekly and treatment affects for all three lamb groups (AR, HME, and LME) with the HME group weighing the most by the end of the experiment. Concentrations of plasma glucose, PUN, and creatinine resulted in differences with the HME group having the highest concentration of each component. Our results indicate that perinatal nutrition effects both the ewe and lamb as well as milk production. Because of the lower energy intake of the LME group, we see that nutrient partitioning occurs enabling the ewe to allocate energy towards growth of the fetus and to produce enough milk to sustain growth of the lamb post placental drop. This partitioning of energy came at the expense of body condition for the LME group, and to a lesser extent to the HME group, in order to produce adequate milk for the offspring. It is also evident, that neither diet met animals' energy nutrient requirements as both BW and BF declined for each group post parturition.

#### INTRODUCTION

Animal production is a fast growing and evolving industry. The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations acknowledges that livestock contribute 40% of the global value of agricultural output and in addition, support the livelihoods and food security of almost a 1.3 billion people (Food and Agriculture Organization of the Unites States, 2014). In 2014, milk production reached about 168 million tonnes of milk and of that 3.2% of total milk

production came from sheep (*Ovis aries*), goats (*Capra aegagrus*), and bison (*Bison bison*); (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United States, 2014). Dairy sheep of the Friesian breed production is not as well established in the United States as it is in Europe and surrounding countries. In the United States, sheep are typically utilized for their meat and wool products.

Pregnant ewes undergo a gestation period of five months (approximately 150 days) and lactate from four to five months in commercial herds. During gestation and lactation, the endocrine system of the ewe distributes nutrients throughout the body to support the fetus and thereby causes major changes affecting metabolic processes (Charismiadou et al., 2000). In this way, prenatal ewe nutrition is vital to both the mother and potential offspring (Charismiadou et al., 2000). Consequently, animal performance is contingent on the intake of metabolizable and digestible nutrients (Mertens, 1994). Deficiency or overabundance of nutrients will affect the animal's productive capabilities. Though some ewes may be fed what is considered the appropriate mixed diet based on ewe breed, size, gestational stage, and milk production needs (NRC, 2007), there is a possibility that fetal growth could be reduced because of a placental limitation on the supply of nutrients (Mellor, 1983). When this occurs, nutrient restriction during gestation shift nutrient partitioning towards the uterus to foster growth of the fetus (Celi et al., 2008). Additionally, underfeeding pregnant sheep can result in a variety of adverse effects on fetal and newborn lambs such as affecting placental size, growth of the fetus, fetal fat reserves allocation for use after birth, udder development as well as colostrum and milk production (Mellor, 1983 and 1988). Likewise, metabolism can vary due to the amounts and ratios of absorbed nutrients, as well as the individual, and the interaction of, biochemical pathways (Mertens, 1994). With the multitude of interactions occurring, it is important to keep in

mind that differences in breed, diet, environment and management can also affect nutrient requirements and utilization by the animals (Galvani et al., 2008).

Our objective was to evaluate the effects of a low metabolizable energy (LME) and high metabolizable energy (HME) diet on Friesian ewe and lamb nutritional status including analysis of blood components, weight, and body condition scores (BCS). In addition, we determined the effects of ME on milk production during early lactation. We expected the energy level fed to the ewes will have an effect on milk production and lamb growth. Lambs are subdivided into three categories: those that are offspring from the HME fed ewes, those that are offspring from the LME fed ewes, and a small portion that are unable to nurse from mother and are fed goat milk make up the artificially reared (AR) group. Analysis and evaluation of ME is reviewed to better understand the energy effects on these high milk producing sheep.

#### **METHODS**

#### Animals, location and experimental design

Twenty-two Friesian/Lacuane cross ewes, between the ages of 2 and 5 years, were bred to East Friesian rams under the approval of the BYU IACUC (#16-1103). Pregnancy was confirmed by ultrasound initially, then by blood analysis (Utah Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory, Logan, UT). Each ewe was identified by a farm ear tag as well as federal scrapies ear tag. Three days after birth, each lamb was fitted with a farm tag and scrapies tag. One day prior to beginning the experiment (third trimester), ewes were vaccinated with a commercial 8-way product (Ultrabac 8®, Zoestis Animal Health, Parsppany, NJ, USA) and dewormed with a broadspectrum anti-parasitic (Valbazen®, Zoestis Animal Health, Parsppany, NJ, USA). Treatment groups were fed either an 80% (LME) or 140% (HME) of recommended ME requirement based on the Small Ruminant NRC (2007) values for 70 kg ewes with high milk production in late gestation and early lactation. For the gestation period the NRC ME requirement was 3.50 and 6.12 MCal for the LME and HME groups. The lactation period NRC ME target was 4.38 and 7.67 MCal.

During the first two trimesters of gestation, ewes were housed in a common paddock with *ad libitum* water and alfalfa hay (*Medicago sativa*; see Table 1-1). On day 100 of gestation (approximately the beginning of the last trimester), ewes were randomly divided into ME treatment groups to ensure that ewe ages were equally represented in the two treatments, with 11 ewes per diet.

Ewes were housed in two dry lot pens with access to shelter bedded with straw and *ad libitum* water. Ewes gave birth in these pens and soon after, ewes and lambs were moved into a barn for sample collection. Ewes and lambs were sampled as outlined below. If a ewe had triplets (15 ewes), quadruplets (1 ewe), or it was determined she was unfit to raise a lamb, the lamb or lambs were moved to the artificially reared (AR) lamb group after receiving colostrum. After parturition, ewes with lambs were moved to cribs as outlined below. Lambs in the AR group were fed 60 ml of sheep colostrum at three 4-hr intervals. They were then fed 75 ml of fresh goat milk four times per day until d-7. From d-8 to d-17 lambs were fed 120 ml four times per day. From d-15 to d 21 lambs were fed 240 ml three times per day. From d-22 to d-42 lambs were fed 480 ml twice daily. Goat milk fed to AR lambs was analyzed for milk components as outlined below (Table 1-4).

## Sampling

From day 100 of gestation to parturition (approximately day 145), ewes were fed daily (0700 hr) treatment diets (see Table 1-1 and Table 1-2). Ewes were weighed weekly at 1000 hr on a platform scale while lambs were weighed on a portable scale until large enough (3000 g) to use the platform scale. Body condition score was determined by backfat (BF) depth over the 12<sup>th</sup> rib (industry standard) using A-mode ultrasound (Preg-Alert Pro, Renco, Golden Valley, MN, USA). Blood was drawn (5 ml) weekly using a syringe and needle from the jugular vein of each ewe. The site of extraction was shaved and cleaned with alcohol prior to the blood draw.

At parturition, ewes were weighed, BF measured, and blood drawn post placental drop prior to putting the ewe and lambs into crib pens. At birth, lambs were weighed and 2ml of blood drawn prior to nursing and being put into the cribs with their mother, or in the case of the AR lambs, into the lamb nursery. Ewes and lambs remained in the cribs for three days while they "mothered-up" (i.e., socially bond). After that time, ewes and lambs were reintroduced back with the treatment group.

From parturition to six-weeks postpartum, weekly weights, BF, and blood samples were collected from the ewes and weight and blood samples from the lambs. Plasma was harvested by centrifugation, aliquoted and stored for analysis. Twenty-four hr milk production was measured by holding the lambs from the ewes for 24 hr (0700 to 0700) three days after weight, blood and BF samples were collected. Milk weight was measured and a 20ml sample collected in Dairy Herd Improvement Association (Rocky Mountain DHIA, Logan, UT, USA) vials.

Assays

Plasma from both ewes and lambs was analyzed using colorimetric assay kits for glucose, urea nitrogen, creatinine, total plasma protein, and triglycerides using TECO kits (TECO Diagnostics, Anaheim, CA, USA). Analysis was conducted at Brigham Young University (Provo, UT, USA). Weekly milk samples for each ewe were analyzed for butter fat, protein, lactose, urea nitrogen, and somatic cell count. Analysis was conducted at the Rocky Mountain DHIA (Logan, UT, USA).

#### Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was conducted with the proc Mixed module in SAS (SAS Inst., Inc., Cary, NC). Fixed main effects included ME treatment and week, while animal was random to account for repeated measures. Least square means for treatment and week were determined to be significant at P<0.05. Model comparisons included weekly ME treatment comparisons for the response variables weight, BF, metabolites, milk production and milk composition. Main effect comparisons were also made between prepartum, parturition and post parturition. Treatment and week main effect comparisons were analyzed for the lamb response variables and expressed as least square means and determined significant at P<0.05.

#### RESULTS

Three ewes did not complete the study due to sickness (n = 1) or death (n = 2). The LME group had eight sets of twins, and three sets of triplets, and one ewe that had quadruplets. Within the HME group, one ewe gave birth to a single lamb, other produced seven sets of twins, and two sets of triplets. The LME groups produced 29 lambs while the HME group produced 21 lambs. Eleven lambs were moved to the AR group. Three of the AR lambs were from the

LME group while the remaining eight were from the HME group. Hay and corn grain were completely consumed by the ewes of both groups, leaving no feed residual, therefore feed intake for each group is that presented in Table 1-2.

## Ewes

Body weight (Figure 1-1) was not different between treatment groups. As expected, there was a sharp drop in weight at parturition for all ewes, with a difference of 20 kg between pre and post parturition. Pre-parturition weights increased from 75.2 kg to 84. 5 kg for the LME group and from 76.1 kg to 84.2 kg for the HME group. After parturition there was no change in weight for either group, with postpartum weights averaging 68.7 and 67.2 kg for LME and HME respectively. Back fat (Figure 1-3), showed a difference by treatment. The LME group backfat steadily decreased from week -6 (3.0 mm) to week +6 (1.8 mm), while HME ewes increased from 3.3 to 3.6 mm between week -6 to week -3 then decreased to 2.7 mm at week -1 and maintained until week +4 where they decreased to 2.4 at week +6.

Weekly blood metabolites are presented in Table 1-3 and a comparison of weight, and blood metabolites of ewes during pre- and post-parturition is presented in Table 1-5. There was no treatment effect for plasma glucose concentration however, there was a week effect. For both the HME and LME groups, the week of parturition differed from the weeks prior and post parturition with a concentration of 9.43 mmol/l and 10.19 mmol/l; respectively. The average concentration of glucose for sheep in general has been reported to range from 2.78 to 4.44 mmol/l ( $3.80 \pm 0.33$ ; Kaneko et al., 1997). The average pre-partum concentration for this study was 3.91 and 4.32 mmol/l for LME and HME respectively and 3.80 and 3.77 mmol/l postpartum.

Plasma urea nitrogen varied significantly between treatment groups where LME PUN concentrations steadily increased from 4.3 mmol/l at week -5 to 7.0 mmol/l at week -1. During this period HME concentrations fluctuated between 3.3 to 3.7 mmol/l. At parturition, both HME and LME were similar at 4.5 mmol/l. Postpartum concentrations averaged 4.3 and 4.9 mmol/l HME and LME. There were no differences in creatinine for treatment or week. Prepartum concentrations were 72.9 and 67.9 μmol/l for LME and HME, 77.0 and 69.9 μmol/l at parturition and 69.4 and 74.3 μmol/l postpartum.

Total plasma protein displayed a weekly effect in both the HME and LME groups. From week -5 to week -1 LME TPP decreased from 68.6 to 57.4 g/l, while at this same time, HME fluctuated between 73.2 to 65.3 mmol/l. At parturition, both HME and LME groups increase to 73.6 and 69.3 mmol/l. The LME group remained at this level for the remainder of the experiment. At week +1 HME levels drop to 50.9 mmol/l before increasing to an average of 64.0 mmol/l for the remainder of the experiment. Prepartum triglyceride levels are 0.247 and 0.275 mmol/l for LME and HME, increasing to 0.280 and 0.291 mmol/l at parturition then dropping to 0.195 and 0.192 mmol/l.

#### Milk Data

There was no difference in treatment groups or week effect for milk yield (Table 1-4), averaging 1.665 kg/d for HME and 1.779 kg/d for LME. Fat percentage was different for treatment effect, 2.53% for HME and 4.43% for LME. Average daily milk fat was also only different between treatment groups, 44.8 g/d for HME and 87.7 g/d for LME. Milk protein percent was different for week effect where HME decreased from 4.93 to 4.44% and no change noted for LME (average 4.75%). Daily milk protein was not different between treatment or week

and averaged 75.0 and 85.0 g/d for HME and LME respectively. Milk lactose percent was different between treatment, 5.43% for HME and 5.12% for LME. No differences were noted for daily lactose, averaging 89.9 and 90.3 g/d for HME and LME respectively. No differences were determined for solids not fat % (SNF) or daily production or for MUN. Milk samples and weights were corrected for energy based on the equation (Hemme, 2017).

ECM = (0.327 x milk kg) + (12.95 x fat kg) + (7.2 x protein kg). Where EMC is energycorrected milk. ECM was not different for treatment, week, or the interaction of the two variables. From week 1 to week 6 for both treatment groups declined with a difference of 0.56 g LME, and 1.00 g HME. The average for the two groups are (5.02 g LME), (3.95 g HME).

#### Lambs

Lamb weight (Figure 1-1) increased steadily for 6 weeks post parturition with lambs in the HME group increasing from 4.625 kg to 15.288 kg, a 231% increase. LME lamb weights increased from 4.180 kg to 13.221 kg (216% increase), while the AR weights increased from 4.256 kg to 12.300 kg (189% increase) over the six-week period. There is no difference in birth weight across the treatments and treatment differences do not become evident until weeks 5 and 6, where the HME group weights were 2.052 and 2.988 kg greater than the LME and AR.

Lamb blood metabolite analysis is presented in Table 1-6. There is no treatment effect for glucose concentrations (see Figure 1-2) between the lamb groups. However, there is a weekly difference for blood glucose between week zero (at birth; from 2.37 to 3.48 mmol/l) increasing to between 8.32 to 9.57mmol/l at week 2 then decreasing to between 5.0 to 5.26 mmol/l at week 6. Plasma urea nitrogen was significant for only the weekly effect where at birth levels are 4.8, 4.9 and 5.5 mmol/l for LME, HME and AR respectively. The LME and HME

PUN levels increased to 6.4 mmol/l at week 1, while the AR group dropped to 2.6 mmol/l. Week 2 to 6 PUN levels fluctuated between 2.00 to 3.89 mmol/l.

Blood creatinine is not significant between treatments, but was for week with levels higher at birth ranging from 204.2 to 157.9 µmol/l. The levels decrease to an average of 55 µmol/l at week 2 and remain constant at this level for the remainder of the experiment. Total plasma protein was different for both treatment and week. At birth, the levels are 49.2, 42.2 and 46.8 g/l for HME, LME and AR respectively. The remainder of the experiment the levels fluctuated between 53 and 67 g/l, with LME most often being the highest and AR the lowest. Triglyceride concentrations were not different between treatments or weeks, ranging between 0.367 to 0.774 mmol/l.

#### DISCUSSION

Dietary restrictions during gestation can affect the metabolic processes of ruminant animals and their subsequent offspring (Celi, 2008). This is evident in the contrast between the two diet regimes compared in this experiment. We documented changes due to diet in the body weight, body condition, and milk production. Milk production, for instance, can be increased through the utilization of energy-rich diets which reduce the mobilization of energy from body reserves (Cannas, 2013). Diet regimes we implemented were kept simple to minimize the sources of metabolizable energy.

#### Ewes

Body weights of the two treatment groups were not different. Addah et al., (2017) suggest that sheep are able to compensate for sudden changes in nutrient restriction by increasing the efficiency of nutrient absorption and utilization, even though the sudden shift initially

reduces average daily gain. Previous studies such as Mora et al., (1996) indicate that for a limited duration, ruminants have the ability to cope with moderate levels of malnutrition. The short period the experimental diets were fed may be the reason there is no difference between the weights of the ewes. Though there were no differences between weights of our two treatment groups, there is a difference in BF during the study. We used BF as a body condition estimate where thicker BF would indicate body energy reserves. It is well documented that body fat reserves are first accrued internally, then inter-muscularly and then as BF. These fat stores provide the animal with reserves that can be utilized to maintain substrate for required energy needs. When energy balance is negative lipolysis provides energy substrates to meet the body's energy needs. The first store of lipid to be utilized when energy is limited is BF. Though there is a numerical decrease in BF from the initiation of the study (approximately 0.5 mm for both treatments), statistical differences do not become apparent until after parturition when the energy needs of lactation overcome the dietary supply. The sharpest decline of prepartum body condition for both groups is from week -3 to parturition suggesting that energy levels prior to parturition may not adequate to meet the energy demands placed on the ewe for fetal growth and the preparation for lactation. The postpartum decline of BF for the LME ewes is further evidence of the effects of limiting energy requirements on lactating ewes. Similarly, the HME diet does not seem to meet the energy demands of lactation as BF decreased at week +4.

Blood metabolite determinations provide an understanding of how various factors can influence general nutritional status. The combination of these blood metabolites provides information on how administered treatments affect metabolic processes. In the case of this experiment, how does dietary energy level affect nutritional status of Friesian ewes and lambs. Burton et al., (2003) and Celi et al., (2008) report glucose responses in pre and postpartum

alpacas and goats show a spike in blood glucose at parturition, similar to the response noted in our sheep. Leat (1974) also observed an increase in the glucose concentration in ewe plasma within 2 to 3 days prior to parturition followed by a decrease in levels 20 days postpartum. The period between late gestation and early lactation is an intense metabolic transition phase from providing nutrients to the fetus to lactogenesis (Burton et al., 2003). Bell (1995) concluded that the gravid uterus absorbs 30 to 50% of the ewe's glucose supply, thus putting stress on the ewe to maintain required glucose levels. Homeorhetic hormones (e.g., glucocorticoids, growth hormone, prolactin and estradiol) interact with homeostatic hormones (e.g., insulin and cortisol) to regulate glucose levels (Tucker, 1985). The glucose spike at parturition could be a result of the timing of sample collection. In the case of this experiment, with the fetus born, the large amount of maternal glucose going to the fetus has stopped and the glucose regulation has not yet adjusted. The ewe now must transition glucose to the needs of lactation.

When protein intake is in excess or energy is limiting, urea N levels will increase due to the catabolism of amino acids either for fat stores or for energy needs. Increases in protein and energy can increase retention of nitrogen in growing ruminant animals and may result in an increase of PUN (Tur et al., 2017). Recycling PUN via the rumen is important for microbial growth and function and improves nitrogen utilization (Wang et al., 2012), thus urea N not taken up by the rumen is excreted in the urine. Excess concentrations of urea in the blood can affect multiple physiological processes including production of milk, immune function, embryo survivability and reproductive efficiency (Dominic et al., 2014). Several studies have stated that PUN serves as an indirect indicator of the energy or protein levels in the diet in conjunction with levels of energy required (Ramin et al., 2010). In this study, PUN levels for the LME group increased from approximately 4.5 to 7.0 mmol/l between week -5 and parturition, while the

HME group PUN remained relatively constant between 3.5 and 4.0 mmol/l. This indicates the LME ewes may have shifted to protein catabolism to meet energy needs brought on by the dietary energy restriction.

Triglyceride concentrations in the blood provide an indication of fat metabolism, where low levels indicate malnutrition and high levels obesity. Prepartum triglyceride levels are higher compared to postpartum indicating there is a shift in nutrient status and that the postpartum ewes have a higher energy demand than prepartum. This is brought out in the NRC (2007), where lactating ewes require higher energy than gestating ewes. What these metabolites in conjunction with the body condition indicate is that the requirements published in the NRC (2007) may be inadequate for these dairy sheep breeds.

#### Milk

Due to its nutritional composition, sheep milk contains more nutrients and a larger supply of total solids than cow or goat milk (Recio et al., 2009). Sheep milk provides a source of proteins, lipids, calcium and phosphorous while balancing a similar quantity of carbohydrates, fat, and proteins (Recio et al., 2009). Several factors affect milk yield including lactation length, environmental factors, feed quality and availability, and genetics to name a few (Collier et al., 2017; Pulina et al., 2007). Lactose synthesis controls water secretion; thus, lactose determines milk volume osmotically (Miglior et al., 2006). Additionally, protein and fat concentrations in milk are largely determined by dietary protein, VFA production in the rumen and the water content driven by lactose (Henao-Velasquez et al., 2014).

Energy requirements for lactation are determined by energy corrected milk (ECM; Milis, 2008). The equation to determine ECM takes into account the percent of fat and protein as well

as volume. Somewhat surprisingly, the LME group has a higher milk yield and higher concentration of milk fat than the HME group, but when expressed on an ECM basis there are no differences between the groups. Cannas et al., (2013) found that ewes fed lower amounts of nonfiber carbohydrates (NFC) produced more milk than those fed more NFC. Additionally, those on the high diet were able to partition ME towards fat deposits rather than milk secretion (Roche et al., 2008). A comparable result occurred in this study where the ewes in the LME group produced more milk than those in the HME group. Like the ewes in the Cannas et al., (2013) study, this may be a result of ME being shuttled towards fat reserves rather than milk production. Ewes in the HME group had on average higher backfat than those in the LME group, 3.0 and 2.5 mm respectively, supporting this assumption. Cannas further suggests that higher milk production in sheep with lower NFC could be the result of a more marked partitioning of dietary energy towards milk synthesis (Cannas et al., 2013). These results indicate that ewes fed 140% ME (HME) allocated more energy towards maintaining high body conditions (e.g., fat stores) than towards milk production. Whereas those fed 80% ME (LME) did not have the resources to maintain higher body conditions, they redirect resources towards milk production to sustain the growing lamb.

Milk fat varies greatly during the lactation period, between ewes, between daily milking, between milking sheep breeds, and due to season and climate (Milis, 2008; McDonald et al., 1995). This variation can be due in part to concentration of volatile fatty acids (VFAs) which originate in the rumen. Specific VFA's such as acetate, propionate, and butyrate, are biproducts of microbiota that provide the main source of energy for ruminants and have an individualized profile per animal. The proportion and type of volatile fatty acids produced in the rumen depend on the substrate metabolized and the species of bacteria present (Dijkstra,

1994). Our study did not focus on VFAs, however a difference in milk fat concentration may be attributed to differing levels and composition of VFAs. Acetate and butyrate are the primary precursors for milk fat synthesis whereas propionate is glucogenic (Bergman,
1990; Urrutia and Haveratine, 2017). In goats, Eknæs and Skeie (2006) and Eknæs et al., (2006) concluded that milk yield was not only affected by the mobilization of tissue energy, but it also affected milk composition; specifically the fatty acid profile.

Other factors that affect milk fat concentration include energy balance of the ewes, neutral detergent fiber (NDF) fraction in forages consumed, NFC, as well as particle size of the feed, amount of feed consumed, and the fatty acid composition of dietary fat supplements (Pulina, 2006). Goetsch et al., (2011) states that forage source has an impact on milk fat that is independent of energy intake. Milk fat synthesis is stimulated via diets rich in digestible fiber, likely through the enhanced supply of acetate to the mammary gland (Cannas et al., 2013). Milk fat yield in goats was found to be greater for diets consisting of higher forage (60 to 65%) content (Álvarez et al., 2007; Ngwa et al., 2009).

Unlike the findings of Alvarez et al., (2007) and Ngwa et al., (2009), this study found that milk fat was higher for ewes in the LME group. Goetsch et al., (2011) stated that forage source, rather than energy intake, has an impact on milk fat concentration. The LME sheep in our study were limit fed the alfalfa in addition to the corn grain to achieve a level of 80% ME. The HME group was fed more than the required dry matter intake (NRC, 2007) and no hay refusal was noted, leading us to conclude that even the HME were limit fed to some degree. Amount of hay (forage) provided for each treatment group could still be too low for Eastern Friesian causing no difference in milk yield or milk fat concentrations.

#### MUN and Milk Protein

Urea nitrogen is a waste product derived by the breakdown of protein, is formed in the liver, circulates in the blood and is excreted in the urine. Blood urea concentrations rapidly equilibrate with body fluid pools such as the mammary gland. In the secretory cells of the mammary gland, urea moves into the milk and becomes a non-protein nitrogen component of milk (Cannas, 1998; Gustafsson and Palmquist, 1993). MUN and blood urea nitrogen concentrations are used to evaluate diets fed to ruminants because they are considered to be adequate indicators of protein metabolism and intake (Jelinek et al., 1996; Roseler et al., 1993). Though there are no differences between MUN or PUN in our study, at week three and four (when there were high concentrations of MUN in the HME group; 13.5 mmol/l and 13.3 mmol/l), milk production decreased. Weeks three and four for the HME group were the only times MUN concentrations exceeded 12.6 mmol/l of MUN concentration. This could be a result of the alfalfa hay crude protein level. To keep the diets simple and easily manageable, diets we used were not isonitrogenous while CP was slightly below requirement for the LME group and well above requirement for the HME group.

Lactose concentrations were higher for the HME group throughout the 6-week collection period, with overall means of 5.43% and 5.12% for HME and LME respectively. Henao-Velasquez et al (2014), stated that lactose levels differ daily in milk production and differ in concentration of fat, milk urea nitrogen, glucose availability and somatic cell count. Our findings were similar in that lactose levels followed a similar curve as the MUN levels, with a low concentration of both components at week one, a slight increase through subsequent weeks, and finally a decrease at week five. ECM was not significant for treatment, week or the interaction.

#### Lambs

#### Birth Weight

Fetus growth during the third trimester varies due to ewe nutritional status during late gestation (Robinson, 1980). The fetus however, does increase by nearly 75% during this time. Late gestation is recognized as a highly energy-inefficient physiological process for ruminants due partly to the high expenditure of energy for maintenance and growth of the fetus (Kiani, 2006; Lodge and Heany, 1970). Birth weight of lambs was not different across our three treatments. The AR group was a result of lambs born to ewes from both ME treatments who were unable to raise the lamb on their own. Because they were evenly a result of both groups coming from sets of twins or triplets, no differences were noted in birth weights between the groups. Lamb weight increased from birth to the end of our experiment (six weeks), with the HME group showing great weight gain despite no difference in milk yield, milk composition or ECM between the treatment groups. Ewes in this study were fed the alfalfa hay ad libitum prior to the initiation of the experiment. The lack of difference between birth weights of the two ME groups may be attributed to the LME utilizing feed more efficiently as explained by Lu et al., (2005) or due to fat reserves in the ewes that were able to compensate for the restriction in energy intake, or both.

#### **Blood Metabolites**

Plasma glucose levels were different at parturition and weeks two and three displaying a weekly effect but no treatment effects. Glucose concentrations for each group were as follows: AR (6.08 mmol/); HME (7.00 mmol/l); LME (6.70 mmol/l), nearly twice the normal values published by Kaneko et al., (1997) (2.78-4.44 mmol/l). Milk lactose and

other glucogenic compounds have been shown to increase blood glucose (Rauprich et al., 2000).

One week after parturition, there was a sharp increase in the concentration of PUN for the LME and HME groups. At week two, the HME group and the AR group continued to exhibit high concentration of PUN, though the LME group's levels were significantly lower. Kirk and Walker (1976) stated that neonatal sheep have difficulty excreting urea the first few days of life. However, lambs become more efficient as they age, as evidenced by the PUN concentration beginning to level out six weeks post-birth similar to alpaca cria (Burton et al., 2003).

Creatinine levels were higher overall in the HME group than in the LME and AR groups. There was a drop in creatinine levels one week following parturition for all three groups after parturition and concentrations leveled out without a significant increase. Burton et al., (2003) described how metabolic pathways are adjust to new sources of substrate during this first week of life. Protein mobilization and kidney function may account for the high levels of creatinine during the first week of life (Burton, 2003).

#### CONCLUSIONS

The results of this study demonstrate that perinatal and post-natal nutrition affects ewe and offspring metabolic processes and milk production. Energy restriction in the LME group resulted in nutrient partitioning allowing ewes in the LME group to produce milk that facilitate lamb growth such that they grew at a rate similar to those from the HME group. It is evident that ewes and offspring can adapt to restricted diets, although body condition will be compromised so that adequate milk is produced for the lambs. The simple diet regime we implemented to meet the needs of the ewes during three different stages of life (late gestation, parturition, and lactation) was deficient, as evidenced by declining BF of the ewes within six weeks of parturition. This indicated a redistribution of body reserves for lactation. Further research is needed to refine energy requirements of Friesian milking sheep.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Addah W., Ayantunde A. and Okine E.K. 2017. Effects of restricted feeding and re-Alimentation on dietary protein or energy on compensatory growth of sheep. S. African J. Anim. Sci. 47:389–398.
- Álvarez S., Fresno M, Méendez P., Castro N., Fernández J.R., Sanz Sampelayo M.R. 2007. Alternatives for improving physical, chemical, and sensory characteristics of goat cheeses: the use of arid-land forages in the diet. J. Dairy Sci. 90: 2181–2188.
- Bell, A.W. 1995. Regulation of Organic Nutrient Metabolism During Transition from Late Pregnancy to Early Lactation. Department of Animal Science, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY. 14853-4801.
- Burton S., Robinson T.F., Roeder B.L., Johnston N.P., Latorre E.V., Reyes S.B., Schaajle B.
  2003. Body condition and blood metabolite characterization of alpaca (*Lama pacos*) three months prepartum and offspring three months postpartum. Small Rumin. Res. 48:69-76.
- Cannas A, Cabiddu A., Bomboi G., Ligios S., Floris B., Molle G. 2013. Decreasing dietary NFC concentration during mid-lactation of dairy ewes: Does it result in higher milk production? Small Rumin. Res. 111:41-49
- Cannas, A., Pes A., Mancuso R., Vodret B., and Nudda A. 1998. Effect of Dietary Energy and Protein Concentration on the Concentration of Milk Urea Nitrogen in Dairy Ewes. J. Dairy Sci. 81:499-508.
- Celi, P., Trana, A. Di., Claps, S. 2008. Effects of perinatal nutrition on lactational performance, metabolic and hormonal profiles of dairy goats and respective kids. Small Rumin. Res.. 79: 129-136.

- Charismiadou, M. A., Bizelis J.A., Rogdakis E. 2000. Metabolic changes during the perinatal period in dairy sheep in relation to level of nutrition and breed. I. Late pregnancy. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. 84: 61-72.
- Collier, R.J., Xiao Y., Bauman D.E. 2017 Regulation of Factors Affecting Milk Yield, Editors:R.R. Watson, R.J. Collier, V.R. Preedy, Nutrients in Dairy and their Implications onHealth and Disease. Academic Press 3-17.
- Dijkstra, J., 1994: Production and absorption of volatile fatty acids in the rumen. Livestock Prod. Sci.. 39: 61–69.
- Dominic, G., Ally K., Murali P., Anil K.S. 2014. Effect of energy supplementation on the milk urea nitrogen and blood urea nitrogen level in cross bred cows in early lactation. Livestock Res. Int. 68-71.
- Eknæs, M., Skeie, S., 2006. Effect of different level of roughage availability and contrast levels of concentrate supplementation on flavour of goat milk. Small Rumin. Res. 66: 32–43.
- Eknæs, M., Kolstad, K., Volden, H., Hove, K., 2006. Changes in body reserves and milk quality throughout lactation in dairy goats. Small Rumin. Res. 63:1-11.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United States, 2014. Agriculture and Consumer Protection Department, Animal Production and Health. Livestock and Animal Production, FAO's role in animal production.
- Galvani, D.B., Pires C.C., Kozloski G.V., Wommer T.P. 2008. Energy requirements of texel crossbred lambs. J. Anim. Sci. 86:3480–3490.
- Goetsch A.L., Zeng S.S., Gipson T.A. 2011. Factors affecting goat milk production and quality. Small Rumin. Res. 101:55-63.

- Gustafsson, A.H. and Palmquist, D.L. 1993. Diurnal variation of rumen ammonia, serum urea and milk urea in dairy cows at high and low yields. J. Dairy Sci. 76:475-484.
- Henao-Valasquez, A. F., Munera-Bedoya, O. D., Herrera, A. C., Angudelo-Trujillo, J. H., Ceron-Munoz, M. F. 2014. Lactose and milk urea nitrogen: fluctuations during lactation in Holstein cows. Rev. Brasil. Zoot. 479-484.
- Holst P.J. 1992. Effects of a restricted diet during mid pregnancy of ewes on uterine and fetal growth and lamb birth weight. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research. 43:315–324.
- Jelinek, P., Gajdusek S., Illek J. 1996. Relationship between selected indicators of milk and blood in sheep. Small Rumin. Res. 20:53–57.
- Kaneko J.J., Harvey J.W., Bruss M.L. 1997. Clinical Biochemistry of Domestic Animals 5th ed. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Kiani, A., Chwalibog A., Tauson A., Nielsen M.O. 2008. Impact of energy and protein restriction on energy expenditure of gestation in twin-bearing ewes. Anim. Sci. J. 79: 218-225.
- Kirk, R.D., Walker, D.M., 1976. Plasma urea nitrogen as an indicator of protein quality. Factors affecting the concentration of urea in the blood preruminant lamb. Austr. J. Agric. Res. 27: 109–116.
- Leat, W.M.F., 1974. Variation in plasma glucose and free fatty acid concentrations in sheep associated with season, pregnancy and lactation. J. Agric. Sci. 82: 181–184.
- Lodge GA, Heaney DP. 1970. Energy cost of pregnancy in the ewe. In: Schurch A, Wenk C, Energy Metabolism of Farm Animal EAAP Publication, Zurich. 13: 109–111.

- Lu C.D., Kawas J.R., Mahgoub O.G. 2005. Fibre digestion and utilization in goats. Small Rumin. Res. 60:45-52.
- McDonald, P., Edwards, R. A., Greenhalgh, J. F. D. and Morgan, C.A. 1995. Animal Nutrition, 5th ed. Prentice Hall, Longman, New York.
- Mellor, D.J., 1983. Nutritional and placental determinants of fetal growth rate in sheep and consequences for the newborn lamb. Bri. Vet. J. 139: 307–324.
- Mellor, D.J., 1988. Integration of perinatal events, pathophysiological changes and consequences for the newborn lamb. Bri. Vet. J. 144: 552–569.
- Mertens, D. R., 1994. Regulation of Forage Intake. In Forage Quality, Evaluation, and Utilization. Madison, WI: US Dairy Forage Research Center. 450.
- Miglior, F. Sewalem, A. Jamrozik, J. Lefebvre, D. M., Moore, R. K. 2006. Analysis of milk urea nitrogen and lactose and their effect on longevity in Canadian dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 89:4886-4894.
- Milis, C.H. 2008. Prediction of the energy value of ewe milk at early lactation. Acta Agric. Scand. A. 58:191-195.
- Mora, O., Shimada, A. and Ruiz, F.J. 1996. The effect of the length and severity of feed restriction on weight, caracass measurements and body composition of goats. J. Agri. Sci. 127: 546-553.
- Ngwa, A.T., Dawson L.J., Puchala R., Detweiler G.D., Merkel R.C., Wang Z., Tesfai K., Sahlu
  T., Ferrell C.L., Goetsch A.L., 2009. Effects of stage of lactation and dietary concentrate
  level on body composition of Alpine dairy goats. J. Dairy Sci. 92:3374–3385.
- NRC, 1985. Nutrient Requirements of Sheep, 6<sup>th</sup> ed. National Academy Press, Washington, DC. 248-250.

- Pulina G., Nudda A., Battacone G., Cannas A. 2006. Effects of nutrition on the contents of fat, protein, somatic cells, aromatic compounds, and undesirable substances in sheep milk. Anim. Feed Sci. Tech. 131:255-291.
- Ramin, A. G., Aghazadeh, A., Karamian, T., Ramin, S. 2010. Correlations of Dietary Crude
  Protein and Gross Energy on Blood Glucose and Urea, Milk Urea and Lactose
  Concentrations in Lactating Ewes. Journal of the University of Veterinary and
  Pharmaceutical Sciences in Brno, Czech Republic. 369-375.
- Rauprich A.B., Hammon H.M., Blum J.W. 2000. Effects of feeding colostrum and a formula with nutrient contents as colostrum on metabolic and endocrine traits in neonatal calves. Biol Neonate. 78:53-64.
- Recio I., De La Fuente M. A., Juarez M., Ramos M. 2009. Bioactive Components in Sheep Milk. Chapter 4. Wiley-Blackwell. 4:83-104.
- Robinson J.J., MacDonald I.A., Fraser C., Gordon J.G. 1980. Studies on reproduction in profile ewes. 6. The efficiency on energy utilization for conceptus growth. J. Agric. Sci. Cambridge. 94: 331–338.
- Roche, J., Blache, D., Kay, J., Miller, D., Sheahan, A., and Miller, D. 2008. Neuroendocrine and physiological regulation of intake with particular reference to domesticated ruminant animals. Nutr. Res. Rev. 21: 207-234.
- Roseler, D. K., Ferguson J.D., Sniffen C.J., and Herrema J. 1993. Dietary protein degradability effects on plasma and milk urea nitrogen and milk nonprotein nitrogen in Holstein cows.J. Dairy Sci. 76:525–534.
- SAS (2002). SAS User's Guide: Statistics. SAS Inst., Inc., Cary, NC

- Statistical Office of the European Communities. 2014. Milk and milk production statistics. Eurostat: Regional statistics: Reference guide. Luxembourg: Eurostat.
- Tucker, H.A., 1985. Endocrine and neural control of the mammary gland. In: Larson, B.L., Lactation. Iowa State University Press, Ames. 39–79.
- Tur, I., Dínç D.A., Semacan, A. 2017. Protein based flushing related blood urea nitrogen effects on ovarian response, embryo recovery and embryo quality in superovulated ewes. Theriogenology. 98:62–67.
- Urrutia N.L., Haveratine K.J. 2017. Acetate dose-dependently stimulates milk fat synthesis in lactating dairy cows. J. Nutr. 147:763-769.
- Wang, S., Wang, W., Tan, Z., Liu, S., He, Z., Zhong, R., Tang, S., Zhou, C., Han, X., Wang, M., Kang, J. 2012. Effects of ruminally degradable dietary protein level on nitrogen metabolism in wethers. Small Rumin. Res. 108:59-66.

# FIGURES



Figure 1-1. Lamb weight changes from birth to six-weeks of age for artificially reared (AR), high energy (HME) and low energy (LME) lambs. Asterisk (\*) indicates difference (P < 0.05) between HME group and the other two (LME and AR), while "abcdef" indicate differences (P < 0.05; SEM 2.47) between weeks.



Figure 1-2. Effects of maternal energy intake (80% vs. 140%) on blood glucose concentrations of lambs naturally reared on dams (HME=140%; LME=80%) or artificially reared (AR) on goats milk. Week means with differing "abc" are different at P<0.05 (SEM 0.52). There are no treatment differences.



Figure 1-3. Backfat measurements of ewes fed at 80% (LME) or 140% (HME) of NRC (2007) energy requirement. Treatment and week differences are significant at P<0.05 (SEM 0.22).

# TABLES

	Alfalfa	Corn
Crude protein	21.4	8.9
NDF	37.1	11.0
ADF	27.9	4.1
Lignin	7.4	1.1
NFC	28.3	73.8
Starch	0.6	66.0
Fat	2.7	4.5
Ash	10.5	1.8
NEL, Mcal/kg	1.39	2.07

Table 1-1. Chemical composition of the two diet components (alfalfa and corn) expressed on a percent dry matter basis.

<sup>a</sup>Expressed on dry matter basis

	Ges	station	Lacta	tion
	LME	HME	LME	HME
DMI, kg/d	1.59	2.10	1.95	2.58
Alfalfa, kg/d	1.350	1.786	1.459	1.932
Corn, kg/d	0.236	0.314	0.486	0.645
NFC, %	35.1	35.1	39.6	40.8
NDF, %	33.1	33.2	30.5	30.5
Protein intake, g/d	310	410	355	470

Table 1-2. The diet formulation of both the LME and HME groups adjusted for two stages in life: gestation and lactation.

			Weeks from Parturition												P<0.05 <sup>b</sup>			
	Diet <sup>a</sup>	-6	-5	-4	-3	-2	-1	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	SEM	TRT	Week	TxW
Weight,	LME	76.1	79.1	81.9	83.8	85.6	84.2	66.9	66.6	69.5	68.6	67.0	65.0	66.1	2.47	ns	+	ns
kg	HME	75.2	78.1	80.0	81.5	84.2	84.5	67.6	69.7	69.7	65.8	65.3	65.3	64.5				
Backfat,	LME	3.0	3.0	3.1	3.0	2.6	2.6	2.5	2.5	2.4	2.2	1.6	1.8	1.8	0.22	+	+	ns
mm	HME	3.3	3.4	3.4	3.6	3.1	2.7	2.7	2.7	2.7	2.8	2.7	2.4	2.4				
Glucose,	LME	3.20	3.31	3.89	4.14	4.55	4.43	10.18	3.18	3.75	3.84	4.22	4.34	3.65	0.51	ns	+	ns
mmol/l	HME	3.81	3.91	4.13	4.76	4.49	4.81	9.43	4.10	3.05	3.56	3.97	3.72	4.22				
UreaN,	LME	4.80	4.33	5.26	6.35	6.84	7.02	4.55	3.44	3.54	3.78	4.84	5.00	5.01	1.28	ns	ns	ns
mmol/l	HME	4.04	3.77	3.44	3.73	3.89	3.30	4.59	3.48	4.87	4.54	4.81	5.90	5.18				
Creatinine,	LME	67.2	72.3	85.3	73.2	66.7	73.2	77.0	70.7	65.3	67.5	68.9	70.0	74.9	4.42	ns	ns	+
µmol/l	HME	64.3	67.8	63.0	67.2	69.1	75.4	69.9	72.9	72.7	75.4	69.9	79.7	75.3				
TPP,	LME	68.0	68.6	66.7	60.7	64.0	57.4	69.3	66.0	62.2	64.9	59.0	69.5	69.6	3.2	ns	+	ns
g/l	HME	73.2	73.3	68.1	65.3	66.6	65.3	73.6	50.9	65.4	62.7	65.9	66.2	70.2				
Triglycerides,	LME	0.240	0.255	0.254	0.264	0.243	0.227	0.280	0.194	0.174	0.203	0.199	0.216	0.184	0.018	ns	+	ns
mmol/l	HME	0.210	0.275	0.308	0.275	0.316	0.265	0.291	0.185	0.166	0.227	0.178	0.210	0.187				

Table 1-3. Ewe weight, backfat and blood metabolites of dairy sheep fed at 80% or 140% of energy requirement for six weeks prior, at, and six weeks post parturition.

<sup>a</sup>LME = low energy diet; HME = high energy diet. <sup>b</sup>Symbol + indicates significance.

			Wee			P<0.05°				
	Diet <sup>a</sup>	1	2	3	4	5	SEM	TRT	Week	TxW
Milk yield	LME	1783	1838	1813	1886	1573	260	ns	ns	ns
g/d	HME	1667	1785	1657	1565	1650				
Milk Fat,	LME	5.00	3.95	3.94	4.52	4.74	0.61	+	ns	ns
%	HME	3.34	2.72	2.44	2.16	2.01				
Milk Fat,	LME	94.3	84.3	80.6	101.2	77.9	19.6	+	ns	ns
g/d	HME	64.3	46.4	42.2	35.4	35.6				
Milk Protein,	LME	5.00	4.63	4.67	4.62	4.85	0.13	ns	+	ns
%	HME	4.93	4.62	4.53	4.45	4.44				
Milk Protein,	LME	89.7	85.9	84.6	87.2	76.6	12.4	ns	ns	ns
g/d	HME	81.8	79.9	73.7	68.5	70.8				
Milk Lactose,	LME	5.03	5.08	5.29	5.06	5.16	0.11	+	ns	ns
%	HME	5.27	5.54	5.51	5.41	5.43				
Milk Urea,	LME	4.89	5.25	5.21	5.29	5.57	0.48	ns	ns	ns
mmol/l	HME	4.71	5.86	6.75	6.64	5.82				
ECM <sup>b</sup>	LME	5.36	5.14	4.99	5.61	4.80	0.92	ns	ns	ns
	HME	4.33	3.88	3.57	3.22	3.33				

Table 1-4. Milk yield and milk composition of dairy ewes fed diets providing 80% or 140% of energy requirement.

<sup>a</sup>LME = low energy diet; HME = high energy diet <sup>b</sup>ECM: energy corrected milk = (0.327 x milk pounds) + (12.95 x fat pounds) + (7.2 x protein pounds).<sup>c</sup>Symbol + indicates significance.

			Stage	age			P<0.05				
	Diet <sup>a</sup>	Pre	Parturition	Post	SEM	TRT	Stage	TxP			
Weight,	LME	81.8	66.8	67.2	5.11	ns	+	ns			
kg	HME	80.7	67.5	68.7							
Backfat,	LME	2.89	2.55	2.05	0.12	+	+	ns			
mm	HME	3.24	2.66	2.71							
Glucose,	LME	3.92	10.19	3.80	0.22	ns	+	ns			
mmol/l	HME	4.32	9.43	3.77							
Urea N,	LME	5.75	4.57	4.25	0.79	ns	ns	+			
mmol/l	HME	3.68	4.57	4.75							
Creatinine,	LME	0.825	0.871	0.785	0.028	ns	ns	+			
mg/dL	HME	.768	0.791	0.840							
TPP,	LME	64.2	69.1	64.9	1.4	ns	+	ns			
g/l	HME	69.3	74.2	63.8							
Triglycerides,	LME	0.247	0.280	0.195	0.009	ns	+	ns			
mmol/l	HME	0.275	0.291	0.192							

Table 1-5. Weight and blood metabolite comparisons of pre- and post-parturition ewes fed 80 or 140% required energy intake.

<sup>a</sup>LME = low energy diet; HME = high energy diet. <sup>b</sup>Symbol + indicates significance.

			Weeks from Birth								P<0.05 <sup>b</sup>	
	Diet <sup>a</sup>	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	SEM	TRT	Week	TxW
Weight, kg	LME	4180	5378	6722	8076	9771	11426	13221	520	+	+	ns
	HME	4625	5997	7442	9158	11575	13478	15288				
	AR	4256	5360	6161	7304	10416	11933	12300				
Glucose,	LME	3.48	7.46	8.95	7.83	7.25	6.80	5.10	0.52	ns	+	ns
mmol/l	HME	3.66	8.37	9.59	7.99	7.53	6.59	5.26				
	AR	2.37	7.30	8.32	6.82	6046	6.24	5.00				
Urea N,	LME	4.91	6.39	2.00	1.98	2.40	3.26	3.65	0.64	ns	+	+
mmol/l	HME	4.83	6.44	2.43	2.25	2.93	3.62	3.89				
	AR	5.54	2.61	2.93	2.17	2.85	2.92	3.25				
Creatinine,	LME	157.9	74.1	46.0	64.4	49.1	57.9	57.9	11.5	ns	+	ns
mmol/l	HME	204.2	111.8	56.2	68.4	58.8	55.2	54.0				
	AR	177.7	59.3	59.1	74.5	56.5	57.9	65.8				
TPP,	LME	42.2	63.9	55.9	59.7	57.8	57.9	66.8	2.3	+	+	+
g/l	HME	49.2	62.4	58.7	62.0	58.0	56.2	58.4				
2	AR	46.8	54.3	53.3	56.5	53.0	53.0	56.7				
Triglycerides,	LME	0.552	0.576	0.500	0.638	0.774	0.561	0.405	0.066	+	+	ns
mmol/l	HME	0.554	0.531	0.596	0.580	0.668	0.598	0.570				
	AR	0.432	0.498	0.463	0.498	0.531	0.367	0.470				

Table 1-6. Effects of maternal energy intake (80% vs. 140%) on weight and blood metabolites of lambs naturally reared on dams or artificially reared on goats milk for six weeks post birth.

 $^{a}LME = low energy diet; HME = high energy diet; AR = artificially reared lambs.$  $<math>^{b}Symbol + indicates significance.$ 

#### CHAPTER 2

#### Digestion of Soybean Meal in Alpacas

## Rebekah Paige Jensen and Todd F. Robinson Department of Plant and Wildlife Sciences, Brigham Young University, Provo, UT

#### ABSTRACT

The objective of this experiment was to determine the degradation parameters of grass hay (GH) supplemented with soybean meal (SBM) and to determine the effects of SBM on compartment 1 of the rumen (C1) ammonia (NH3-N) and volatile fatty acid (VFAs) concentrations in alpacas. Four C1 fistulated adult male alpacas (*Vicugna pacos*) ( $7\pm1.5$  years old;  $61\pm5$  kg body weight; BW) were housed in metabolism crates and received water ad *libitum* during the treatment periods of this study. The GH and SBM treatments were fed at 0700 every day. Treatment periods were for 14 days in which GH or SBM treatments were randomly allocated to each alpaca. On day 14 volatile fatty acids (VFAs), pH and NH3-N were determined at 1, 3, 6, 10, 14, 18 and 24 hrs post feeding. C1 degradation of GH and SBM was determined with the alpacas being fed GH only and the samples incubated for 0, 2, 4, 8, 14, 24, 48 and 72 hrs. Dry matter (DM) and crude protein (CP) degradation were determined and divided into three categories: a = immediately soluble; b = non-soluble but degradable; and u =non-degradable/unavailable, potential extent of degradation (PE), degradation rate (c), effective degradation (ED) and kp (passage rate) = 5.5% hr-1). Total DM intake was different between the two treatments (P<0.05), while CP intake was increased (72.5 to 191.0 g/d) with the addition of SBM. SBM NH3-N level was greater than GH. Total VFA concentration was not different with the inclusion of SBM, but for percent composition a shift was noted away from acetate (Ac) towards propionate and butyrate (Pr, Bu). DM fraction a was not different between GH and

SBM, while there was for fraction *b*. CP fractions a and b were different. Degradation rate was not different for DM, but was for CP. From these data we learned that SBM can be a CP supplement when the diet is deficient to improve microbial yield, but care should be taken to avoid causing a protein-energy imbalance.

#### INTRODUCTION

Soybean meal (SBM) is a solid product resulting from the oil extraction process from whole soybeans. More than 99 percent of soybean meal today is produced through the solvent-extraction process in which the dehulled, conditioned flakes of soybeans are washed in a countercurrent manner with hexane. The solvent solubilizes the lipid material in the soybeans and the hexane-oil mixture is separated through a series of steps. After evaporation of the oil-rich extract, the "spent flakes" of soybeans are toasted, then dried and cooled. Soybean meal is used primarily as a filler and protein source in animal diets. The typical composition of soybean meal produced through the solvent-extraction process is 90% dry matter, 44.0% crude protein, 0.5% ether extract, 7.0% crude fiber, and 6.0% ash.

Studies of the effects of soybean meal on many animals have been performed, but the digestion kinetics and characteristics have not yet been determined in alpacas (*Vicugna pacos*). Alpaca digestive systems are comprised of three compartments similar to that of the ruminant species, they are called compartment 1 (C1), compartment 2 (C2), and compartment 3 (C3). The use of soybean meal in animal diets has been used to alter levels of amino acids in the diet that are typically deficient in grains and grain by-products (Swick et al., 1995; Swick, 1998). The increased protein content in the diet should be

beneficial to the microflora of the alpaca since the additional protein and energy available to the rumen microflora increases the production of VFAs from the fermentation of these components.

It has been shown that pseudo-ruminant species produce and absorb VFAs from the digestive tract (Bergman, 1990). Engelhardt and Sallmann (1972) showed that large quantities of VFA were absorbed in the C1 and C2 of guanaco (*Lama guanicoe*), particularly in the glandular saccule region. Engelhardt et al., (1979) found in llamas that absorption of water, sodium and VFA's also occurred in the C3. Species differences between camelids and ruminants occur in rumen volume, dilution rates and absorption rate of VFA's which affects volatile fatty acid concentrations (Abbas et al., 1995; Elsden, 1946).

Rumen microbial nitrogen requirement for protein synthesis is met by ammonia, free amino acids, and peptides obtained from degradation of dietary CP and recycled CP (Boucher et al., 2007). Camelids are also known to recycle nitrogen at a higher rate, although feed protein degradation is not different between camelids, sheep and goats (Jouany et al., 1995). Due to the camelid's higher rate of nitrogen recycling, it is assumed that urea supplementation would be detrimental to the C1 ecosystem because of the readily available nitrogen. As such, SBM is a good candidate as a CP supplement because of its slower degradation rate observed in other species. The objective of this experiment was to determine the degradability of grass hay (GH) supplemented with SBM and the C1 NH3-N and VFA production associated with the addition of SBM in alpacas.

#### **METHODS**

Four adult male alpacas ( $\bar{x} = 7\pm 1.5$  years old;  $61\pm 5$  kg BW) were housed in metabolism crates during the treatment periods of this study. Each alpaca had previously been instrumented

with a C1 fistula, as outlined by Robinson et al. (2013). Care of these animals followed animal use and care guidelines (FASS, 2010) provided by the The Camelid Center Animal Use Committee. When not collecting samples, the alpacas were walked for 30 minutes daily. Alpacas were fed a mixed-grass hay forage (orchard grass (Dactylis glomerata); meadow bromegrass (Bromopsis biebersteinii); smooth bromegrass (Bromus inermis)) for thirty days prior to the experiment allowing them to acclimate to this GH forage. During this period, the alpacas were fed ad libitum at 0700, and water was offered ad libitum. Dry matter intake (DMI) was measured during the last seven days of the acclimation. This research was conducted in two trials: in situ degradation and determination of C1 VFA concentrations of GH and GH supplemented with 333g DM soybean meal (SBM).

#### In Situ digestibility trial

This trial followed the thirty-day acclimation period to GH. During this trial, alpacas were fed GH at 0700 and 1900 to provide a steady state of digestion (Vanzant et al., 1998). DMI was determined during the end of the thirty-day acclimation period and was divided in half for the twice-daily feeding. DMI was calculated using feed refusal (i.e., non-ingested GH) gathered daily that was weighed and dried for each animal. Grab samples of the GH fed were dried throughout both trials and used to determine the quantity of DM fed. From this value for DM fed, the dried refusal was subtracted and daily DMI calculated. Daily DMI values were used to statistically determine the treatment DMI for each treatment.

In situ substrate samples included GH and SBM, and each substrate was ground through a Wiley Mill (Aurthur H. Thomas Co., Philadelphia, PA) with a 2mm screen. Four samples of each substrate were prepared by weighing 5 g of each, then placing them into 10cmx20cm Dacron bags (50µm pore; Ankom Technology, Macedon, NY). Dacron bags of substrate were soaked in water (39°C) for 20 min, prior to incubation, to reduce lag time associated with wetting. Substrates were incubated for 0, 2, 4, 8, 14, 24, 48 and 72 hrs. Bags were placed into the C1 of each alpaca and removed at the same end time. Upon removal, the bags were placed in ice water to halt further microbial digestion. Additionally, each bag was rinsed until the water ran clear (~15 min). The 0-hr samples were soaked and rinsed as outlined without incubation. Following rinsing, bags were dried at 50°C for at least 48 hrs to a dried weight.

Residual material from in situ incubation was analyzed for DM and CP. CP concentration was determined using a LECO combustion N analyzer (LECO TruSpec, St. Joseph, MI, USA). N values determined by the LECO analyzer were then converted to CP, using the standard conversion factor of 6.25. Total DM and CP degradation were divided into three pool fractions: a = immediately soluble; b = the non-soluble but degradable; and u = the undegradable/unavailable fraction. Fraction calculations were performed as outlined by Nilsen et al., (2015). Effective C1 disappearance (ED) of DM and CP were determined as described by Ørkov and McDonald (1979) as a + b x (c/(c + kp)), where c the disappearance rate (%·hr-1) and kp is the passage rate (5.5%·hr-1; Nilsen et al., 2015).

#### Volatile Fatty Acid Trial

Two treatments consisted of grass hay (GH), and GH supplemented with 333g dry matter (DM) soybean meal (SBM). The level of SBM inclusion was targeted to triple the total CP intake. Alpacas were fed at 0700 each day. Each treatment period was for 14 days. The SBM supplement was fed first and was consumed within 15 min of feeding. Hay was fed upon completion of SBM consumption. Diurnal C1 VFA samples were collected on day 14 and processed as outlined by Oldham et al., (2013) at 1, 3, 6, 10, 14,

18 and 24 hrs post feeding. Samples were immediately processed for VFA analysis and the supernatant frozen for future analysis (Oldham et al., 2013). In addition, 8ml of strained C1 fluid was added to 2 ml of 25% metaphosphoric acid, mixed and frozen for future analysis of NH3 (Chaney and Marbach, 1962). The remaining C1 sample was used for pH determination using a pH meter (Corning 340, Tewksbury, MA, USA) with a combination probe.

#### Statistical Analysis

The in situ DM and CP degradation parameters were determined by fitting the data to the nonlinear regression model of Ørkov and McDonald (1979) using Proc NLIN of SAS (SAS, 2002). The GLM procedure (SAS, 2002) was used to determine the treatment effects of the degradation estimates. Least square means for treatments were determined using unadjusted *t* tests and a level of significance at P<0.05. The diurnal VFA and pH data were analyzed using a linear mixed model with treatment, time, and the interaction as main effects with time treated as a repeated measure (Littell et al., 1998). The SAS (SAS, 2002) procedure MIXED was used for these calculations and a probability of P<0.05 was considered significantly different. Least square means for levels of the treatment/time factors were calculated and compared using unadjusted *t* tests.

#### RESULTS

The chemical composition of the feeds used in this experiment are presented in Table 2-1. The DM degradation parameters for GH and SBM are found in Table 2-2 and the patterns are presented in Figure 2-1. Fraction *a* DM degradation (Fig. 2-1, panels A and B) was not different between treatments. The *b* fraction was different between GH and SBM where GH was greater than SBM. Potential extent (PE) of DM degradation, based on the sum of fraction *a* and *b*, was greater for GH than SBM, while CP PE was not. The rate of DM degradation was not different between the treatments at 8.1 and 10.3 %·hr-1 for GH and SBM, respectively. Crude protein degradation rate (Fig. 2-1, panel C and D) was greater for SBM by 350% at 1.9%·hr-1 for GH and 8.6 %·hr-1 for SBM. Using acid detergent insoluble ash as a marker, Nilsen et al., (2015) calculated kp from four alpacas to be 0.0549 %·hr-1 ± 0.0173 fed the same GH as used in this experiment. We used this derived value of (0.0549) to determine effective degradation (ED). Dry matter ED was the same for GH and SBM at 51.5% and 54.9% respectively, while CP ED was greater for SBM than GH at 49.8% and 63.5% respectively.

Dry matter intake during the VFA trial was not different for GH and SBM at 944 g/d and 878 g/d, while the inclusion of SBM did decrease the DM hay intake to 545 g/d. The SBM treatment CP intake, as we planned, was 195.5 g/d, higher than GH of 71.4 g/d. The C1 diurnal pH was not different between the sampling times or between the two treatments. The mean treatment pH (see Table 2-3) was different where GH and SBM were 6.81 and 6.65, respectively. The SBM NH3-N (Table 2-3; 9.28 mg/dL) was 164% greater than GH at 3.52 mg/dL. Volatile fatty acid concentrations and proportions (Table 2-3) were not significant between the diurnal samples collected, so the data are not presented. No differences were noted between the treatment total VFA concentrations (63.1 and 67.7 mmol/l). The Ac and Bu molar concentrations were not different between the GH and SBM treatments, while Pr increased from 12.0 mmol/l for GH to 14.7 mmol/l for SBM. Expressed on a percentage basis, Ac was higher for GH at 72.4% than SBM at 69.5%. The inclusion of SBM increased the percentage of Pr and Bu above the GH treatment. The acetate:propionate ratio was not different.

#### DISCUSSION

Camelid digestive processes include a longer particle retention time (Heller et al., 1986), greater volatile fatty acid absorption and nitrogen recycling than other ruminants (Rübsamen and Engelhardt, 1979; Engelhardt et al., 1984). These digestion dynamics are why the camelid system is unique from true ruminants. Retention time of llamas is 50% longer than sheep fed the same diet (Lemosquet et al., 1996). Nitrogen recycling is an important component of the camelid's protein metabolism. Farid et al., (1979) concluded that nitrogen conservation is due to a decrease in fecal and urine N excretion. Comparing sheep and llama renal urea N excretion, Hinderer and Engelhardt (1975) showed llama's excretions were lower than sheep because urea N turnover in llamas was 3% versus 12% in sheep. Protein supplements are added to increase dietary nitrogen. Soybean meal is one of the most commonly used protein supplements in the United States animal industry. The addition of supplemented N improves microbial activity and fermentation (Mahouachi et al., 2003). While N supplementation can be beneficial, N utilization by the C1 microbiome is dependent on dietary carbohydrate content. Volatile fatty acid, NH3-N concentrations and buffering components all contribute to the physio-chemical stability of the C1 environment where all of these factors result in more efficient microbial activity. Efficient microbial activity equates to an increase in VFA production for energy usage by the animal. Improvement of N efficiency is dependent upon an understanding of C1 N sequestration, protein digestion, degradation and intestinal absorption.

The soluble *a* DM fraction degradation of soybean meal by alpacas in our study were similar to those found by Gonzales et al., (2002), while the *b* fraction and kp were different. Gonzales further showed that the degradation of similarly processed SBM from

different sources are different and concluded that processing of the SBM influences rumen availability. Soybean meal degradation has not studied in alpacas. Several studies have looked at SBM degradation in a number of other species. Marghazini et al., (2013) showed in Nili-Ravi buffalo (Bubalus bubalis) CP degradation of SBM was 16.5 and 71.8% for fractions *a* and *b*, with a degradation rate of 0.178 h-1. In sheep fed an alfalfa/concentrate diet, Kamalak et al., (2005) found SBM DM degradation to be 25.1 and 56.5% for fractions *a* and *b* respectively with a degradation rate of 0.06 h-1. For the same sheep SBM CP degradation fractions *a* and *b* were 33.4 and 51.3% with the same degradation rate. Huntington and Givens (1997) showed in cattle and sheep SBM degradation of 26 and 72% for fractions *a* and *b* with a degradation rate of 0.078 h-1. Though the species are different, the results are similar and variation may be accounted for by Gonzales et al., (2002)'s findings. These findings are also in agreement with Prigge et al., (1984) who concluded that degradation of feeds is similar for mature ruminants.

Effective degradation for the GH was higher as a percentage than that noted by Stevens et al., (2014). They estimated the kp to be between 2 and 4%, while data from Nilsen et al., (2015) fed the similar hay to that used in this study measured kp to be 5.49%. On a DM basis there was no difference between GH and SBM, but on a CP basis SBM ED was greater than GH. The inclusion of SBM in the present study to GH shows an effect on the production of NH3-N and VFA composition with no effect on pH. The results were an increase in NH3-N and a change in the proportion of VFA from Ac to Pr and Bu. Lourenco et al., 2013 showed in sheep fed meadow grass hay that the inclusion of SBM increased rumen NH3-N by 130%. This increase in NH3-N was in conjunction with no change in rumen pH, %Pr or total VFA, but a lower %Ac and increased Bu and Ac/Pr were noted. Steers that consumed fescue straw with SBM

supplementation at similar inclusion as our study, Cappellozza et al., (2013) saw no difference in pH, total VFA, VFA composition or the Ac/Pr ratio. Raboisson et al., (2012) fed rumen cannulated steers SBM at 1 and 2% BW and concluded that an increase in rumen NH3-N was a result of the rapid degradation of the SBM. SBM protein and carbohydrate components are reported to produce a rapid increase in VFA after consumption (Sauvant et al., 2002). Jouany et al., (1995) concluded that the buffering capacity of camelids was better under acidic conditions and that VFA absorption was partially responsible. The C1 pH is closely tied to VFA production and absorption. Darlis et al., (2000) found goats and sheep fed rice straw supplemented with SBM had 118 and 110 mm total VFA, respectively. Acetate, propionate and butyrate percentages were different between the two species and were 79.1 and 75.8%, 15.6 and 18.0%, 5.3 and 6.0%, respectively. The effects of SBM on NH3-N, VFA and pH vary and may be due to the forage quality being supplemented. Taminga (1983) stated that solubility, susceptibility of microbial proteases and residence time in the rumen are factors that affect degradation of protein. Our findings suggest that the total diet must be looked at to assure SBM supplementation will be advantageous.

Mahouachi et al., (2003) stated that, rumen N-NH3 less than 50 mg/l will have a limiting effect on microbial synthesis (Satter and Slyter, 1974). Jouany et al., (1995) demonstrated in camelids and sheep fed low quality hay that, although camelids have a higher N recycling, feed protein degradation to N-NH3 is not different between the two species. They found N-NH3 concentration in the foregut was lower in the camelids having lower N-NH3 concentrations in the foregut than that found in sheep was due to faster passage of the fluid phase, faster rate of absorption across the stomach wall or a higher uptake by the microbial population. Dulphy et al., (1997) concluded that the higher water turnover rate found in llamas, as compared

to sheep, may in fact increase cellulolytic activity because of the rapid passage of substances that could hinder microbial growth.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Data from this study provide the degradation patterns of SBM and GH which can be used to enhance our understanding of protein-energy deficiencies of alpacas. Further research needs to be conducted to determine the level of SBM that can foster optimal microbial growth. The CP fraction degradation and rate kinetics of SBM for alpacas is of interest because of their unique digestive system. Carmalt (2000) presents a case for protein-energy malnutrition syndrome in alpacas. The quality of the diet is believed to be the cause of this syndrome, where either CP or energy are lacking and interacting with the efficient use of the other. Hall and Huntington (2008) discussed nutrient synchrony, where simultaneous provision of carbohydrates (energy) and protein improve microbial functions in the rumen.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Abbas, A.M., Engelhardt, Wv., Lechner-Doll, M., Luciano, L., Mousa, H.M., Reale, E. 1995.
  Particularities in forestomach anatomy, physiology and biochemistry of camelids compared to ruminants. In: Tisserand JL (Ed.), Elevage et alimentation du dromadaire.
  CIHEAM, Options M\_editerran\_eennes: S\_erie B. Etudes et Recherches, Zaragoza. 13: 19-32.
- Bergman, E.N. (1990). Energy contributions of volatile fatty acids from the gastrointestinal tract in various species. Physiol. Rev. 70: 567-590.
- Boucher, S.E., Ordway, R.S., Whitehouse, N.L., Lundy, F.P., Kononoff, P.J., Schwab, C.G.
  2007: Effect of incremental urea supplementation of a conventional corn silage-based diet on ruminal ammonia concentration and synthesis of microbial protein. J. Dairy Sci. 90: 5619–5633.
- Cappellozza, B.I., Bohnert, D.W., Schauer, C.S., Falck, S.J., Vanzant, E.S., Harmon, D.L.,
  Cooke, R.F. 2013. Daily and alternate day supplementation of urea or soybean meal to
  ruminants consuming low-quality cool-season forage: II. Effects on ruminal
  fermentation. Livestock Sci. 155:214-222
- Carmalt, J.L. 2000. Protein-energy malnutrition in alpacas. Compendium. 22:1118-1123.
- Chaney, A.L., Marbach, E.P. 1962. Modified reagents for determination of urea and ammonia. Clin. Chem. 8: 130-132.
- Darlis, A.N., Halim, R.A., Jalaludin, S., Ho, Y.W. 2000. Rumen parameters and urea kinetics in goats and sheep. Asian-Aust. J. Anim. Sci. 13:922-928.
- Dulphy, J.P., Dardillat, C., Jailler, M., Ballet, J.M. 1997. Comparative study of forestomach digestion in llamas and sheep. Repro. Nutr. Dev. 37:709-725.

- Elsden, S.R., Hitchcock, M.W.S., Marshell, R.A., Phillipson, A.T. 1946. Volatile acid in the digesta of ruminants and other animals. J. Exp. Biol. 22: 191-202.
- Engelhardt, Wv., Lechner-Doll, M., Heller, R. 1984. The digestive physiology of camelids. In: The Camelid. An all-purpose animal. Vol. 1, Cockrill WR (Ed). Uppsala: Scandinavian Institute of African Studies. 323-344.
- Engelhardt, Wv., Sallmann, H.P. 1972. Resorption und secretion im pansen des guanakos (lama guancoe). Zentralblatt für Veterinärmedizin A. 19: 117-132.
- Farid, M.F.A., Shawket, S.M., Abbel-Rahman, M.H.A. 1979. Observation on the nutrition of camels and sheep under stress. In: The Workshop of Camels, Khartoum. 125–170.
- Federation of Animal Science Societies, 2010: Guide for the Care and Use of Agricultural Animals in Research and Teaching. Third ed. Champagne, Il.
- González, J., Andrés, S., Rodríguez, C.A., Alvir, M.R. 2002. In situ evaluation of the protein value of soybean meal and proceeded full fat soybeans for ruminants. Anim. Res. 51:455-464.
- Heller, R., Cercasov, V., Engelhardt, Wv. 1986 Retention of fluid and particles in the digestive tract of the Llama (*Llama guanaco f. glama*). J. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 4:687–691.
- Hinderer, S., Engelhardt, Wv. 1975 Urea metabolism in the llama. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 52:619–622.
- Huntington, J.A., Givens, D.I. 1997. Studies on in situ degradation of feeds in the rumen: 1.Effect of species, bag mobility and incubation sequence on dry matter disappearance.Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 64:227-241.
- Jouany, J.P., Dardillat, C., Kayouli, C. 1995. Microbial cell wall digestion in camelids. In: Tisserand J.-L. (ed.). Elevage et alimentation du dromadaire . Zaragoza : CIHEAM, p.

33-42. (Options Méditerranéennes : Série B. Etudes et Recherches; n. 13). Séminaire du Projet CEE-DGXII TS2\*0233-C (EDB), 1992/10/09-10, Douz (Tunisia).

- Kamalak, A., Canbolat, O., Gurbuz, Y., Ozay O. 2005. In situ ruminal dry matter and crude protein degradability of plant- and animal-derived protein sources in Southern Turkey. Small Rumin. Res. 58:135-141.
- Kayouli, C., Jouany, J.P., Amor, J.B. 1991. Comparison of microbial activity in the forestomachs of the dromedary and the sheep measured in vitro and in sacco on Mediterranean roughages. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 33: 237-245.
- Lemosquet S., Dardillat C., Jailler, M., Dulphy, J.P. 1996. Voluntary intake and gastric digestion of two hays by llamas and sheep: Influence of concentrate supplementation. J. Agric. Sci. 127: 539-548.
- Littell, R.C.; Henry, P.R.; Ammerman, C.B., 1998. Statistical analysis of repeated measures data using SAS procedures. J. Anim. Sci. 76:1216-1231.
- Lourenco, A.L., Cone, J.W., Fontesa, P., Dias-da-Silva, A.A. 2013. Effects of sheep breed and soybean meal supplementation on rumen environment and degradation kinetics. NJAS Wageningen J. Life Sci. 64-65:77-85.
- Mahouachi, M., Haddad, L., Kayouli, C., Théwis, A., Beckers, Y. 2003. Effects of the nature of nitrogen supplementation on voluntary intake, rumen parameters and ruminal degradation of dry matter in sheep fed oat silage-based diets. Small Rumin. Res. 48:181-187.
- Marghazani, I.B., Jabbar, M.A., Pasha, T.N., Abdullah, M. 2013. Ruminal degradation characteristics in vegetable protein sources of Pakistan. J. Anim. Plant Sci. 23:1578-1582.
- Nilsen, B., Johnston, N.P., Stevens, N., Robinson, T.F. 2015. In Situ Digestion of Amaranth, Barley and Quinoa in Alpacas. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. 99:873-879.

- Oldham C, Robinson TF (2014). Volatile Fatty Acid Profile for Grass hay or Alfalfa Hay Fed to Alpacas (*Vicugna pacos*). J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. 98: 908-913.
- Ørskov, E.R., McDonald, I. 1979. The estimation of protein degradation in the rumen from incubation measurements weighted according to rate of passage. J. Agric. Sci. (Cambridge). 92:499-503.
- Prigge, E.C., Baker, M.J., Varga, G.A. 1984. Comparative digestion rumen fermentation and kinetics of forage diets by steers and wethers. J. Anim. Sci. 59: 237-245.
- Raboisson, D., Ferrières, A., Nicot, M.C., Enjalbert, F., Schelcher, F. 2012. Experimental soybean meal intoxication in cattle. J. Vet. Int. Med. 26:393-401.
- Robinson, T.F., Harris, B.W., Johnston, N.P. 2013. Initial compartment 1 pH response to grain supplementation in alpacas (*Vicugna pacos*) fed alfalfa and grass hay. J. Anim. Sci. Adv. 3:354-360.
- Rübsamen, K., Engelhardt, Wv. 1979. Morphological and functional peculiarities of the llama forestomach. Annales De Recherches Veterinaires. 10: 473-475.
- SAS (2002). SAS User's Guide: Statistics. SAS Inst., Inc., Cary, NC.
- Satter, L.D., Slyter, L.L. 1974. Effect of ammonia concentration on rumen microbial protein production in vitro. Brit. J. Nutr. 32:199.
- Sauvant, D., Perez, J-M, Tran. G. 2002. Tables de composition et de valeurs nutritives des matières premières destinées aux animaux d'élevage. Paris: INRA.
- Scarbrough, D.A., Coblentz, W.K., Coffey, K.P., Turner, J.E., Davis, G.V., Kellog, D.W., Hellwig, D.H. 2001. Effects of calendar date and summer management on the in situ dry matter and fiber degradation of stockpiled forage from Bermuda grass pastures. J. Anim. Sci. 79:3158-3169.

- Swick, R.A. 1998. US soybean meal: Present Quality and Future Trends. ASA Technical Bulletin. MITA No. 096/11/97. AN14-1998. ASA. Singapore.
- Swick, R.A., Akiyama, D.M., Boonyaratpalin, M., Creswell, D.C. 1995. Use of soybean meal and synthetic methionine in shrimp feed. American Soybean Association. Tech. Bull., Vol. AQ43-1995.
- Taminga, S. 1983. Recent advances in our knowledge on protein digestion and absorption in ruminants. In: Arnal M. Pion R and Bonin D (eds) Proceedings of the 4<sup>th</sup> International Symposium of European Association of Animal Production (EAAP). Protein Metabolism and Nutrition. Paris INRA. 263-287.
- Vanzant, E.S., Cochran, R.C., Titgemeyer, E.C. 1998. Standardization of in situ techniques for ruminant feedstuff evaluation. J. Anim. Sci. 76: 2717-2729.
- Waldo, D.R., Smith, L.W., Cox, E.L. 1972. Model of cellulose disappearance from the rumen. J. Dairy Sci. 55:125-129.

# FIGURES



Figure 2-1. Dry matter degradation pattern for grass hay (Panels A) and soybean meal (Panel B) and crude protein degradation for grass hay (Panel C) and soybean meal (Panel D).

# TABLES

	Grass	SBM
Dry matter, %	93.0	91.6
Crude protein, %	11.4	51.6
NDF, %	56.8	11.4
ADF, %	34.0	7.2
Lignin, %	4.8	0.9
Fat, %	2.6	1.7
Ash, %	8.8	8.4
Non-fiber carbohydrate <sup>b</sup> , %	23.5	27.7
Starch, %	1.1	ND
Calcium, %	0.38	0.27
Phosphorus, %	0.24	0.87
Potassium, %	2.16	2.40
Supplement fed		
Dry matter fed, g		333
Crude protein fed, g		172

Table 2-1. Composition of feed<sup>a</sup> for both grass and soybean meal (SBM) presented in percentages with the supplementation presented in grams.

<sup>a</sup>Analysis of duplicate samples were performed by Dairy One Forage Lab using wet chemistry procedures.

<sup>b</sup>Fraction determined by calculations. NFC = 100–CP–NDF–Fat–Ash–Bound protein.

	DM			СР		
	Grass Hay	SBM	SEM	Grass Hay	SBM	SEM
a	24.0	30.5	2.51	35.3 <sup>d</sup>	25.7°	1.34
b	50.0 <sup>b</sup>	37.3ª	0.91	57.2°	66.3 <sup>d</sup>	2.44
<i>c</i> , %/h <sup>-1</sup>	8.1	10.3	1.5	1.9°	8.6 <sup>d</sup>	1.6
Potential extent, %	74.0 <sup>b</sup>	67.8ª	1.87	92.5	92.0	2.42
Effective degradation, %	51.5	54.9	1.67	49.8°	63.5 <sup>d</sup>	4.14

Table 2-2. Dry matter and crude protein degradation kinetics for grass hay and soybean meal (SBM).

<sup>ab</sup>Row means within DM with differing superscripts are significantly different at P<0.05. <sup>cd</sup>Row means within CP with differing superscripts are significantly different at P<0.05.

a =immediately soluble; b = the non-soluble but degradable; c = degradation rate based on the equation  $a + b(1 - e^{-ct})$  Ørkov and McDonald (1979). Potential extent is the sum of a + b and effective degradation is calculated as  $a + (b \ge c/(c + k_p))$ , where  $k_p \ge 0.0549$ .

	Treatment		
	Grass hay	SBM	SEM
Dry matter intake, g/d	944	878	74.0
Hay DM intake, g/d	944 <sup>b</sup>	545ª	74.0
Crude protein intake, g/d	72.5ª	191 <sup>b</sup>	5.69
NDF intake, g/d	380 <sup>a</sup>	342ª	33.3
pH	6.81	6.65	0.06
NH <sub>3</sub> -N, mg/dl	3.52ª	9.28 <sup>b</sup>	0.55
Acetate, mmol/l	45.7	46.9	2.26
Propionate, mmol/l	12.0 <sup>a</sup>	14.7 <sup>b</sup>	0.92
Butyrate, mmol/l	5.44	6.11	0.31
Total, mmol/l	63.1	67.7	3.27
AC/PR	3.87	3.37	0.43
Acetate, %	72.4 <sup>b</sup>	69.5ª	0.84
Propionate, %	19.4 <sup>a</sup>	21.5 <sup>b</sup>	0.78
Butyrate, %	8.58ª	9.03 <sup>b</sup>	0.11

Table 2-3. Dry matter intake, NH<sub>3</sub>-N, concentration and composition of volatile fatty acids in the C1 of alpacas fed grass hay and grass hay soybean meal (SBM).

<sup>ab</sup>Row means with differing superscripts are significantly different at P<0.05.